FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/16/2024 10:17 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102800-8</u>

COA No. 55942-1-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RANDY DONALDSON,

Petitioner.

Consolidated with

In re the Personal Restraint of

RANDY DONALDSON,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James E. Lobsenz, WSBA #8787 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 <u>lobsenz@carneylaw.com</u> Attorneys for Petitioner

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves issues of first impression concerning the use of a stress reducing therapy called EMDR (Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing). EMDR is similar in some respects to hypnosis. The same dangers regarding the use of hypnosis on persons who are slated to be witnesses in an upcoming criminal trial exist when EMDR is used as a stress reducing technique on persons who later testify in court proceedings. Both procedures can generate false memories. In both situations the patient sincerely believes that her memory has been enhanced or improved by the therapy. Because the patient believes that her memory has not been contaminated, it is extremely difficult to discern whether in fact a false memory has been created.

This Court dealt with the problems raised by hypnosis in *State v. Martin*, 101 Wn.2d 713, 684 P.2d 651 (1984). There, this Court adopted several rules to govern the admissibility of

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1

DON027-0001 7473115

testimony by witnesses who had undergone hypnosis in order to recover lost or suppressed memories.

To the best of Petitioner's knowledge, prior to this case, only one other appellate court has addressed the admissibility of testimony by witnesses who had undergone EMDR. In that case, United States v. DWB, 74 M.J. 630, 643 (N-M Ct. Crim. App. 2015), the Navy-Marine Court of Criminal Appeals held that testimony from a witness who has undergone EMDR is admissible *only* when the party seeking to call the witness carries the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the EMDR therapy did not cause the generation of a false memory. In DWB the witness had no conscious memory of abuse before undergoing EMDR therapy. Id. Although there were "no military cases and very few civilian cases [that] address[ed] EMDR," the Court recognized that there was "a significant body of law addressing the admissibility of memories recovered through other psychological processes" including hypnosis. *DWB* at 637. After analyzing hypnosis cases from other

jurisdictions, the *D.W.B.* Court held the witness' testimony inadmissible. *Id.* at 644.

In *Martin*, this Court held that the party offering the testimony of a hypnotized witness bore the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the witness' memory *was not* contaminated by the hypnosis therapy. In this case, the Court of Appeals, applying the "actual prejudice" rule of *In re Cook*,¹ ruled that Donaldson bore the burden of proving "actual prejudice" by proving that the witness' memory *was* contaminated by the EMDR therapy, and that it was more likely than not that if the witness' testimony had been excluded that the outcome of the trial would have been different.²

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Randy Donaldson seeks review of the decision issued below.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 3

DON027-0001 7473115

¹ 114 Wn.2d 802, 792 P.2d 506 (1990).

² *App. A*-22-23.

III. DECISION BELOW

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision and its Order Denying Reconsideration are attached as *Appendices A & B*.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4) because the Court of Appeals (a) held that the defendant bore the burden of proving that it was more likely than not that the receipt of EMDR had contaminated the memory of the prosecution's key witness, even though Martin holds that the State bears the burden of proving the absence of memory contamination; and ignored the holdings of Martin that in order to be admissible (b) the State must show that adequate procedural safeguards were employed when the proffered witness received hypnosis therapy; and (c) the trial judge must make a finding of fact that there is strong independent corroboration of the fact that the witness' proffered testimony consists solely of pre-hypnosis memory.

2. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals held, contrary to this Court's decision in *State v. Sandoval*,³ that the *Cook* "more likely than not" actual prejudice rule applies to cases where the appellate court simultaneously considers a direct appeal and a personal restraint petition pursuant to *State v. McFarland*⁴?

3. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals held, contrary to this Court's decision in *In re Crace*⁵ that the *Cook* "more likely than not" prejudice rule applies to cases where the appellate court is considering a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel?

4. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4) because the Court of Appeals failed to apply the harmless error rule of *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) to Donaldson's Sixth Amendment claims that he was denied his

³ 171 Wn.2d 163, 168-69, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011).

⁴ 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

⁵ 174 Wn.2d 835, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012).

rights to cross-examination, effective representation of counsel, and the right to present a defense by the trial court's refusal to give defense counsel any time whatsoever to find out what EMDR was, what risks of memory contamination it might cause, and what safeguards should be employed to ensure that the witness' memory was not altered by it?

5. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4) because after finding that a photo montage procedure was unnecessarily suggestive, the Court of Appeals considered "corroborating" evidence unrelated to the witness' identification as grounds for rejection of Donaldson's due process claim contrary to *Manson v. Brathwaite*?⁶

6. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and
(b)(4) because contrary to *Manson*, *Neil v. Biggers*,⁷ and *State v. Derri*,⁸ the Court of Appeals failed to consider the witness'

⁸ 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022).

⁶ 432 U.S. 98 (1977).

⁷ 409 U.S. 188 (1972).

"opportunity to view *the criminal at the time of the crime*" and instead considered the witness' opportunity to view *the defendant* an hour or so *before* the crime?

7. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals held, contrary to *Chapman*, and a slew of decisions rendered by this Court and by the Court of Appeals, that the trial prosecutor did not violate Petitioner's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent when he told the jury Donaldson's failure to say "I didn't do this" showed that he was guilty?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts

1. One shooter or two?

Olivia Brown's husband Daquan Foster was shot several times and killed in the parking lot of a Tacoma nightclub called Latitude 84. RP 682. Thirteen 9 mm and four .40 caliber casings were recovered at the scene. *App. A-3*. Thus, the ballistics evidence seemingly established that two guns were used, but

neither gun was ever recovered. RP 637. At trial the disputed issues were how many people shot at Foster – one or two – and who the shooter, or shooters were. The prosecution's theory was that "[t]here was at least two shooters," and possibly three. RP 1808-09. The prosecution told the jury that Marshall Wilson had already "been convicted of murder in this case,"⁹ and that Wilson "was one of the shooters." RP 638. The defense theory was that "there's one shooter, and it's the other guy, and he's already been convicted." RP 1296.

In addition to Brown, four witnesses testified regarding the identity of the person or persons who shot Foster. All four of them testified they *only saw one* shooter¹⁰ and only 1 of these

⁹ There were three trials. Donaldson was convicted in the third trial. *App. A-7*.

¹⁰ Johnasha Manning (RP 995-96, 1003), Kristina Rios (RP 1853-55), Wyatt Percell (RP 1937), and Tamika Williams (RP 1495-97, 1504. Rios and Williams both identified Wilson as the shooter that they saw.

four (Manning)¹¹ testified that Donaldson was the shooter.¹² *Only* Olivia Brown testified that she remembered seeing two shooters. RP 1081-82. She identified Donaldson as one of them. But Brown admitted that on the night of the shooting she told police that there was *only one* shooter and that she did *not* tell the police anything about a second shooter until roughly six months after the incident. RP 1199-1200.¹³ Thus,

¹¹ Manning (RP 1010).

¹² Manning, who admitted she was intoxicated, also described the shooter as having a beard. RP 981, 1315-16. No other witness saw a beard.

¹³ The Court of Appeals erroneously stated that *on the night of the shooting* Brown told a patrol officer that there were two shooters. *App. A-4*, citing RP 862. But as Donaldson pointed out in his motion for reconsideration, the Court of Appeals was mistaken. Although the officer *initially* testified that Brown told him there were two shooters, he *retracted* this testimony on cross-examination. When asked if Brown "described *one* person shooting, correct?" Officer Cockle replied, "*Correct*." RP 868-69. The Court of Appeals also overlooked Brown's own trial testimony that she didn't tell anyone that there were two shooters *until months after* the incident. RP 1119-1200.

- (1) four of the five witnesses testified that there was only one shooter and three of them testified that Donaldson was *not* that person;
- (2) one of the five witnesses said there was only one shooter and Donaldson was that person;
- (3) the prosecution stipulated that on the night of the shooting¹⁴ Brown herself told the police that there was only one shooter with one gun; and
- (4) four months later Brown told the police that there were two shooters and that Donaldson was one of them.

2. Surprise midtrial disclosure of "memory improvement" after receipt of EMDR.

Brown testified that her memory changed. Brown admitted that she was interviewed by police more than four times and that their "main question" was how many shooters or how many guns she saw. RP 1144. Brown said that she believed that

¹⁴ "[T]he State will stipulate that in this interview that started at 3:45 a.m. on October 29th, 2017, Ms. Brown described seeing one shooter with one gun." RP 1147.

within six months of the incident she told the lead detective that there were two shooters. *Id.* When asked, "why didn't you tell these two detectives [at the hospital] that you saw a second gun and a second shooter?" she answered, "I told them when I remembered." RP 1147-48.

The prosecutor asked Brown *why* she came to remember a second shooter. To everyone's surprise she replied that she had received "bilateral therapy" called "EMDR," and that after that she "remembered a lot more." RP 1189. Neither the prosecution nor the defense knew what EMDR was.¹⁵

3. Denial of defense requests for a continuance or recess.

Noting that this was the first notice he had "from the State that their witness was in memory improvement therapy," defense counsel complained that he could not "effectively cross-examine

¹⁵ Brown accepted defense counsel's estimate that she had "about 18 sessions" of EMDR before she told Detective Clother that she now remembered there had been a second shooter. RP 1199-1200.

th[e] witness" because he knew nothing about EMDR. RP 1193. The prosecutor argued that "while this trial continues [defense counsel] can try to find someone to claim that this therapy memories" implants but opposed a continuance as "inappropriate." RP 1194. The trial judge acknowledged that he "did not know what the significance of" EMDR therapy was and denied the motion for a continuance. RP 1196. Defense counsel then moved for a brief recess asking for "the opportunity to study up after I learn what EMDR is and who [the therapist] is between now and 1:30 before I continue my cross." Id. The trial judge denied that motion as well. Id.

4. Suggestive photo montage.

At the shooting scene around 1:45 a.m., Brown "described a single shooter" as "a light-skinned male with dreadlocks" who was wearing a black hoodie. *App. A-4*. Later that morning at the hospital Brown again described the shooter as having dreads. *Id*. Two days after the shooting, a detective showed Brown two photo montages one of which contained Donaldson's photo. *App. A-6.* Donaldson's photo was the only one of a person with dreadlocks and the only one wearing red clothing. *Id.* As the Court of Appeals noted, "Brown could not identify anyone from either montage. But she lingered on Donaldson's photo, commenting, "'He had dreads,'" and "'[t]he guy in the red looked like him, but he had lighter skin.'" *Id.* The detective told Brown that drivers' license photos often do not accurately depict the subject's skin tone. *App. A-8.*

[The next day], Brown called another detective and asked to see the photo montage with Donaldson again, and the detective refused. Brown then said, "'The guy in the dreads with the red is the guy," referring to the image of Donaldson in the montage.

App. A-6.

Over Donaldson's objection, the photo montage containing his photo was admitted in evidence and Brown was allowed to testify to her identification of Donaldson from the montage. *App. A-8*.

B. Post-trial procedural history.

Donaldson filed a timely CrR 7.8 motion in which he raised three claims based upon the trial court's denial of his counsel's motions for either a continuance or a recess so that he could learn what EMDR was and how it affected a person's memory. Donaldson asserted that these rulings violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment constitutional rights to due process, effective assistance of counsel, cross-examination, and the right to present a defense. See Ungar v. Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575 (1964); State v. Edwards, 68 Wn.2d 246, 258, 412 P.2d 747 (1966); State v. Willis, 37 Wn.2d 274, 279, 223 P.2d 453 (1950). He supported his motion with a declaration from Professor Henry Otgaar, a neuroscientist at Maastricht University, one of the very few people who has done research on EMDR and its effects on the accuracy of human memory. Appendix C.

The trial judge referred the 7.8 motion to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a PRP. Pursuant to *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335, Donaldson's motion for consolidation of his direct

appeal and his PRP was granted. Appendix D. The Court of Appeals subsequently denied Donaldson's Sixth Amendment claims, on the ground that Donaldson failed to satisfy the *Cook* prejudice requirement by failing to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the outcome of the trial would have been different if his motion had been granted. App. A-22-23. Cook applies only to claims which are raised for the first time in a collateral attack proceeding. 114 Wn.2d at 810. Donaldson's defense counsel immediately raised these claims in the trial court as soon as he learned that the witness had received EMDR therapy. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals applied the *Cook* prejudice rule which governs claims *first* raised in a collateral attack.

Donaldson argued that use of the photo montage shown by police to witness Brown violated the Fourteenth Amendment due process clause because it was impermissibly suggestive, relying on *Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98 (1977) and *State v. Derri*, 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022). The Court of Appeals

agreed that "the montage was impermissibly suggestive because Donaldson was the only person in the montage with dreadlocks," but rejected this claim because Donaldson failed to establish that "the unnecessarily suggestive procedure created 'a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." *App. A-17*, quoting *Manson*, 432 U.S. at 116.

Donaldson argued that the prosecutor violated his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent by explicitly arguing to the jury that Donaldson's failure to tell police "I didn't do it," or that police were arresting "the wrong guy." The Court of Appeals rejected this argument ruling that the Fifth Amendment was not violated. *App. A-28-29*.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The decision below conflicts with this Court's decision in *Martin*.

In *Martin* this Court held drew a bright line rule: "[T]testimony by a witness as to a fact which became available following hypnosis is inadmissible in the trial of criminal cases in this state," but "a witness may testify based on what he knew before hypnosis, provided the appropriate safeguards are present." 101 Wn.2d at 714. Noting that "[t]he parties cite no Washington case" involving EMDR, the Court of Appeals appears to have questioned whether the *Martin* rules applied. App. A-23. It went on to "assum[e] without deciding" that the EMDR did generate false memories for Brown, but reasoned that those false memories were "primarily related to whether Wilson was a shooter." App. A-23. Overlooking the fact that the State stipulated, and that Brown herself admitted that she did not remember seeing *two* shooters until after she had been receiving EMDR therapy for some time, the Court of Appeals held that Donaldson was not entitled to any relief because he had failed to prove that he was prejudiced by any false memory that Brown's EMDR created.

The Court of Appeals' opinion violates the burden of proof rule of *Martin*. *Martin* holds that in order to be admissible, the party wishing to present the testimony of a hypnotized witness must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the witness' memory was *not* altered. The Court of Appeals held that Donaldson's appeal failed because Donaldson did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Brown's memory *was* altered by her EMDR therapy. Thus, the Court below shifted the burden of proof from the State to the defendant in violation of the *Martin* rule for hypnotized witnesses.

The Court of Appeals also ignored *Martin's* admissibility requirement that the party offering the witness must show that "appropriate procedural safeguards" were followed. 101 Wn.2d at 714. These safeguards include the following: (1) preserving "[a] detailed record of the witness' prehypnotic memory"; (2) resolving any uncertainties in favor of the party opposing admission of the witness' testimony; and (3) giving that party "the opportunity to show the possible effect of the hypnosis on the witness' testimony and the manner in which [it] was conducted." *Id.* at 722-23.

In this case, none of the *Martin* procedural safeguards were employed. Moreover, by denying defense counsel's motions for a continuance or a mid-trial recess, Donaldson was totally deprived of "the opportunity to show the possible effect of the" EMDR on the witness. Defense counsel was given no opportunity to learn what EMDR was; to consult with any expert about it; to present any evidence regarding its dangers; or to cross-examine¹⁶ witness Brown regarding the particulars (who, when, where) of her EMDR therapy.

Martin also holds that "[a]bsent some independent verification that the witness' testimony consists of prehypnotic

¹⁶ See Martin, 101 Wn.2d at 721-22 "[E]ffective crossexamination is seriously impeded, as the witness cannot distinguish between facts known prior to hypnotism, facts confabulated during hypnosis to produce pseudomemories, and facts learned after hypnosis. ... [T]he witness ... will have absolute subjective conviction about a particular set of events, whether or not his perceptions are objectively accurate. It is this tendency towards immunization from meaningful crossexamination in particular that leads us to conclude that a person, once hypnotized, should be barred from testifying concerning information recalled while under hypnosis." (Emphasis added).

[or, here, pre-EMDR] memory, the propriety of its admission is questionable." 101 Wn.2d at 723. Since the witness herself "may be unable to distinguish between prehypnotic memory and post-hypnotic memory confabulations," this Court held there must be strong corroboration of the fact supposedly recalled prior to the hypnosis. *Id.* at 724. Neither the trial judge nor the Court of Appeals ever made any such finding, and no Washington appellate court has the ability to make such a finding because the power to find facts is "exclusively vested in the trial courts."¹⁷ Without remanding for a Superior Court judge to decide whether such a finding is warranted, the Court of Appeals simply ignored this *Martin* requirement.

B. The Court of Appeals erroneously applied the *Cook* prejudice standard contrary to *Sandoval*.

The Court below rejected Donaldson's Sixth Amendment claims on the ground that "[e]ven assuming the trial court should

¹⁷ See Edwards v. Morrison-Knudsen Co., 61 Wn.2d 593, 598-599, 379 P.2d 735 (1963).

have granted a recess to allow Donaldson's counsel time to prepare for cross-examination," Donaldson had not satisfied the *Cook "actual and substantial prejudice"* requirement:

To demonstrate actual and substantial prejudice, *the petitioner must show that the outcome of the proceeding "would more likely than not have been different had the error not occurred."*

App. A-22-23 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals held: "Even assuming that the trial court erred by denying the recess to prepare for cross-examination in light of Brown's new testimony about her EMDR therapy ... [b]ecause Donaldson cannot show actual and substantial prejudice arising from the alleged error, we deny Donaldson's PRP." *Id.* at *App. A-24-25*.

On reconsideration Donaldson argued that the "actual and substantial prejudice" rule did not apply to him because his PRP was filed and consolidated with his direct appeal pursuant to *McFarland*. *Sandoval* shows that Donaldson was correct.

Like Donaldson, *Sandoval* followed the *McFarland* procedure. *Sandoval*, at 168. "The Court of Appeals consolidated [his] appeal and [his] PRP, and in an unpublished opinion, affirmed the conviction and denied the PRP." *Id.* This Court reversed holding that while "[o]rdinarily a personal restraint petitioner must show actual and substantial prejudice … [t]his actual and substantial prejudice standard does not apply when the petitioner has not had a prior opportunity to appeal the issue to a disinterested judge." *Id.*

Sandoval filed a PRP "concurrently with [his] direct appeal" because the evidence he needed to prove his claim "does not appear in the trial court record." *Id.* at 168-169, quoting *McFarland*, at 335.

Because of this unique procedural obstacle to Sandoval's ineffective assistance claim, he has not "already had an opportunity to appeal to a disinterested judge. [Citation]. Thus, Sandoval does not have to show actual and substantial prejudice

Sandoval, at 169.

Donaldson did the same thing. He filed a CrR 7.8 motion, which was converted to a PRP by a judge who was not a disinterested appellate judge, and thus he "does not have to show actual and substantial prejudice." The Court of Appeals erred when it held that he did. *Id*.

Once Donaldson showed a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to cross-examine or the right to present a defense, (*see, e.g., State v. Edwards*, 68 Wn.2d at 258), he had no burden at all to show prejudice. Instead, as *Chapman* dictates, the State had the burden of proving harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. Although he was raising a claim of ineffective assistance, contrary to *Crace* and *Strickland* the Court of Appeals held that Donaldson had to meet the *Cook* more-likely-than-not prejudice standard.

The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with this Court's decision in *In re Crace* and with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Strickland*. *Strickland*, at 693. A PRP petitioner asserting ineffective assistance need *not* prove that counsel's deficient performance more likely than not altered the outcome of the case. He "need not show more prejudice on collateral attack than on direct appeal," and need only satisfy *Strickland. Crace*, 174 Wn.2d at 847 citing *Strickland*, at 697. He need only show that there is a reasonable probability that absent the deficient conduct the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt. *Strickland*, at 695. He does not have to show a probability that exceeds 50%. *Crace*, at 845. The Court of Appeals erred when it rejected Donaldson's ineffective assistance of counsel claim because he failed to make such a showing. *App. A-23*.

- D. Misapplication of the *Biggers/Brathwaite* opportunity to view factor.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals did not consider the witness' opportunity to view the shooter "at the time of the crime."

The first of the five "factors to be considered in evaluating the likelihood of misidentification" is "the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime." *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199; *accord Manson*, 432 U.S. at 114. "At the time of the crime" – witness Brown had at most a few seconds to observe a man who "had long dreads" and who "just came out of nowhere," ran up to where she was standing and shot her husband in a dark parking lot, sometime shortly after 1:33 a.m.¹⁸

Instead of analyzing Brown's opportunity to view "the shooter" who shot outside the nightclub, the Court below analyzed Brown's opportunity to observe a man who was "throwing money" inside the club at least one hour earlier. It is undisputed that Donaldson was one of two men who was throwing money inside. But this opportunity is irrelevant to the issue of whether Donaldson was the same man that Brown says ran up "out of nowhere" and shot her husband outside the club.

Thus, the Court below failed to apply the correct legal standard for analyzing the reliability of Brown's identification of

DON027-0001 7473115

¹⁸ RP 1061-62, 1083-84, 1089.

Donaldson. See, e.g., United States v. Emanuele, 51 F.3d 1123 (3rd Cir. 1995).

2. Failure to consider stress at the time of the crime.

The Court of Appeals compounded its error by considering the fact that Brown was not under any stress when she observed Donaldson inside the nightclub an hour or *before* she and her husband were shot outside the club, instead of the obvious and undisputed fact that she was under a huge amount of stress at the time the crime was committed. *See, e.g., Derri*, 199 Wn.2d at 687 ("Undoubtedly, witnessing a robbery is a stressful event").

3. Contrary to *Manson* the Court of Appeals considered "corroborative" evidence when deciding whether the identification was reliable.

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