FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/18/2024 2:57 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102800-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RANDY LOUIS DONALDSON,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Bryan Chuschcoff

No. 17-1-04275-9

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 31762 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6517

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The court of appeals applied the proper standard for a collateral attack.

Donaldson argues that the court of appeals should not have applied the prejudice standard for a collateral attack in resolving an issue raised only in his collateral attack. Pet. at 16-18; PRP at 28-34, 36-37, 45-48. The claim is facially frivolous.

In the PRP challenge of the denial of his motion for delay, Donaldson relies upon *State v. Martin*, 101 Wn.2d 713, 684 P.2d 651 (1984) and *United States v. D.W.B.*, 74 M.J. 630 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2015). Pet. at 1-3, 16-20. But both cases regard matters on direct appeal. The unpublished opinion recites the correct legal standard for the context:

A personal restraint petitioner claiming constitutional error must demonstrate that they were actually and substantially prejudiced as a result of that error. *In re Pers. Restraint of Swagerty*, 186 Wn.2d 801, 807, 383 P.3d 454 (2016). To demonstrate actual and substantial prejudice, the petitioner must show that the outcome of the proceeding "would more likely than not have been different had the error not occurred." *State v. Buckman*, 190 Wn.2d 51, 60, 409 P.3d 193 (2018).

Unpub. Op. at 22-23.

It is this portion of the opinion that Donaldson challenges. Pet. at 17 (citing Unpub. Op. at 23). He argues that the court "shifted the burden of proof." Pet. at 18. But the court did not do this; the law did. In a personal restraint petition, the burden of proof shifts to the petitioner. *In re the Pers. Restraint of Cook*, 114 Wn.2d 802, 814, 792 P.2d 506 (1990); *Hews v. Evans*, 99 Wn.2d 80, 88, 660 P.2d 263 (1983). It is a "threshold burden" which, if not met, requires dismissal. *Cook*, 114 Wn.2d at 810 (quoting *In re Haverty*, 101 Wn.2d 498, 504, 681 P.2d 835 (1984), *In re Reismiller*, 101 Wn.2d 291, 298, 678 P.2d 323 (1984), and *Hews*, 99 Wn.2d at 88).

Because the legal standards for a direct appeal are not the legal standards in a collateral attack, there is neither a conflict of law nor a matter of public interest in the court's application of the proper standard of review. Pet. at 4 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4)).

B. Where Donaldson is challenging a court ruling, the *Grantham* rule, regarding challenges never before considered by a court, does not apply.

Donaldson argues that a personal restraint petition that is consolidated with a direct appeal is exempt from the prejudice requirement. Pet. at 21-22. He relies upon *State v. Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d 163, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011), a case which in turn relies upon *In re Pers. Restraint of Grantham*, 168 Wn.2d 204, 227 P.3d 285 (2010). Pet. at 5 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1) and alleging a conflict with *Sandoval*). The unpublished opinion does not conflict with either *Sandoval* or *Grantham*.

The *Grantham* case regarded a challenge to prison discipline wherein the complaint had never been before any court until the personal restraint petition. Commissioner Goff raised the concern that the actual and substantial prejudice standard should not apply "where the petitioner has had no previous opportunity for judicial review." *Grantham*, 168 Wn.2d at 208. The court agreed, holding that "a petitioner seeking relief via a personal restraint petition from prison discipline where *no prior*

judicial review has been afforded is not required to make a prima facie case of constitutional error and actual and substantial prejudice, or nonconstitutional error and total miscarriage of justice, as a precondition to relief." *In re Pers. Restraint of Grantham*, 168 Wn.2d 204, 214, 227 P.3d 285, (2010) (emphasis added).

Sandoval challenged the voluntariness of his plea based on a claim of ineffective assistance that *had never been before any court. Sandoval*, 171 Wn.2d at 169. In that specific context, the court applied the *Grantham* rule.

That rule does not apply here where Donaldson is challenging a *judicial* ruling. His complaint, that the court should interrupt a jury trial indefinitely for Donaldson to engage in further discovery, has been before a disinterested judge, namely the trial judge.

The requisite premise for the application of *Sandoval* and *Grantham* does not exist here. Therefore, the rule does not apply,

and the court of appeals' application of the standard prejudice rule is not in conflict with an inapplicable rule.

C. The court of appeals' finding regarding prejudice does not conflict with any authority.

Donaldson argues that the court should have relied upon *In re Pers. Restraint of Crace*, 174 Wn.2d 835, 847, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012) rather than *State v. Buckman*, 190 Wn.2d 51, 61, 409 P.3d 193 (2018) for its definition of prejudice. Pet. at 23-24 (citing Unpub. Op. at 23). The argument is frivolous as the standards are the same.

Buckman clarified that "at the guilty plea stage," the Strickland prejudice standard should be used. Buckman, 190 Wn.2d at 61-62. However, in all other contexts,

... we have continued to apply the reasonable probability standard in collateral challenges based on inadequate assistance of counsel. See, e.g., State v. Jones, 183 Wash.2d 327, 339, 352 P.3d 776 (2015) ("To show prejudice, the appellant need not prove that the outcome would have been different but must show only a "reasonable probability"—by less than a more likely than not standard—that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different."); see also In re Pers. Restraint of Crace, 174 Wash.2d 835,

846-47, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012) ("We hold that if a personal restraint petitioner makes a successful ineffective assistance of counsel claim, he has necessarily met his burden to show actual and substantial prejudice.").

We also adopted the United States Supreme Court's use of the "reasonable probability" standard for collateral attacks based on a violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed. 2d 215 (1963). *See In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson*, 174 Wash.2d 474, 487, 276 P.3d 286 (2012) (applying the "reasonable probability" standard to a collateral attack alleging a *Brady* violation).

Buckman, 190 Wn.2d at 63.

Regardless of how that standard is expressed, Donaldson did not show prejudice of any kind. Brown never faltered in her identification of Donaldson. The alleged discrepancy regarded *Wilson* only. Unpub. Op. at 24. Brown's multiple identifications of Donaldson were recorded *before* she entered therapy. *Id.* The description and identification were the *same* after therapy. *Id.* Donaldson's expert cannot say EMDR affected Brown's memory or testimony in any way. *Id.* at 25.

The court's conclusion regarding the absence of prejudice is not in conflict with any case. Pet. at 5 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1));

D. *Brathwaite* does not prohibit consideration of the witness' familiarity with the defendant prior to identifying him.

Donaldson argues that Brown's familiarity with him prior to the shooting is irrelevant to the reliability of her identification. Pet. at 25. Not only is the argument irrational but it also finds no support in *Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1977). Pet. at 28-29.

Brathwaite had two holdings, neither of which exclude the consideration of any evidence. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 98-99. First, Brathwaite determined that Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972) applies to identifications made both before and after the decision in Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967). Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 98-99, 104-07. Second, it held that the identification at issue was admissible. Id. at 99, 117.

Brathwaite answered a knock at an apartment door and then sold heroin to an undercover officer who later identified the defendant. *Id.* at 100-01. The court noted that Brathwaite's regular presence at the apartment did not play a part in its analysis of the reliability of the identification, although the fact "hardly undermined" the court's conclusion. *Id.* at 116. Note there is no holding which determines which information is or is not relevant.

More importantly, there is no comparability between Brathwaite's regular presence at the situs of the crime and Brown's familiarity with Donaldson's appearance. The fact that Brown had seen Donaldson previously, for a decent period of time, and without the interference of trauma gives reliability to her later recognition and identification of him. This is common sense. *See e.g., State v. Hardy*, 76 Wn. App. 188, 191, 884 P.2d 8 (1994) (finding a witness who has had more contact with a suspect is in a better position to identify that suspect).

Brown recognized the shooters as men she had observed inside the club. RP 1093.³ She testified "Randy Donaldson had stepped on a dollar." RP 1093. "I saw [my friend] go to pick up the dollar, and he had stepped on it. And she was like, 'Excuse me." RP 1094. Brown had tried to stop her friend. RP 1093-94. She was then "very close" to Donaldson. RP 1094. The interaction was captured on different videos. RP 1095-99, 2927 (playing Ex.s 170 and 188). "[Y]ou can watch Olivia stand there face to face with the defendant for 20 seconds." RP 2928. "She remembers him from inside the club because she was face to face with him." *Id*.

The unpublished opinion makes no error in considering this fact among many, many others which establish the reliability of the identification. Unpub. Op. at 20-21. The decision neither

_

³ The State's citation to this record in the original brief was overlooked in the opinion. Br. of Resp. at 4; Unpub. Op. at 19 n.7.

conflicts with any case law nor presents an issue of public interest. Pet. at 5 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4)).

E. The court of appeals decision which found speech is not silence does not conflict with any authority.

In a heading only, Donaldson argues that the unpublished opinion is in conflict with *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967). Pet. at 25. This argument is not developed in the argument, and therefore does not warrant attention.

Rather, Donaldson's argument relies upon state cases. Pet. at 25 (citing *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242-43, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996); *State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 217, 181 P.3d 1 (2008); *State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 510, 755 P.2d 174 (1988); *State v. Knapp*, 148 Wn. App. 414, 421, 199 P.3d 505 (2009)). "None of those cases addresses commentary on statements that were admitted under CrR 3.5." Unpub. Op. at 30. All of these cases are distinguishable as they regard actual comments on silence, something that did not occur here.

Donaldson was not silent; he spoke. The prosecutor discussed his speech, not his silence.

While speech may be said to involve also choosing what not to say, "Doyle does not require any such formalistic understanding of 'silence,' and we find no reason to adopt such a view in this case." Anderson v. Charles, 447 U.S. 404, 409, 100 S. Ct. 2180, 2182, 65 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1980) (referencing Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610, 96 S.Ct. 2240, 49 L.Ed.2d 91 (1976)). A defendant who speaks "has not remained silent at all." Charles, 447 U.S. at 408.

Donaldson has not demonstrated a conflict with any published case. Pet. at 6 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)). There is no consideration which would permit discretionary review.

V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court deny the petition for review.

///

///

///

This document is in 14-point font and contains 3,620 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.